COA NO. 44562-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RICHARD CARPENTER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper, Judge The Honorable Katherine M. Stolz, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial during the jury selection process.

2. The court violated appellant's right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution in denying appellant's motion to discharge counsel.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Whether the court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial when it conducted the peremptory challenge portion of the jury selection process in private without analyzing the requisite factors to justify closure?

2. Whether the court erred in failing to appoint new counsel due to inadequate inquiry into the nature and extent of appellant's conflict with his attorney and breakdown in communication?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The State charged Richard Carpenter with first degree assault, first degree robbery, and second degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 60-62. A jury returned guilty verdicts and special verdicts that Carpenter was armed with a firearm during the assault and robbery. CP 200-04. The court imposed a total of 336 months confinement. CP 230. This appeal follows. CP 240-54.

- 1 -

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE COURT VIOLATED CARPENTER'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL WHEN IT CONDUCTED A PORTION OF THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS IN PRIVATE.

Peremptory challenges were exercised on a piece of paper in a manner that did not allow for public scrutiny. The court erred in conducting this portion of the jury selection process in private without justifying the closure under the standard established by Washington Supreme Court and United States Supreme Court precedent. This structural error requires reversal of the convictions.

> a. <u>Peremptory Challenges Were Exercised On Paper</u> <u>With No Contemporaneous Announcement Of</u> <u>Those Challenges In Open Court</u>.

Jury selection took place on January 24, 2013. 8RP.¹ The venire panel was questioned on the record in the courtroom. 8RP 7-150. At the close of questioning, the court announced, "the next part of this, the attorneys are going to be passing a sheet of paper back and forth as they pick their jury. This does not require audience participation, so at this point, you're free to talk among yourselves quietly." 8RP 151.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP - five consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 3/6/12, 1/8/13, 1/17/13, 1/22/13, 1/24/13 (vol. I), 1/28/13 (vol. II), 1/2913 (vol. III), 1/30/13, 1/31/13 (vol. IV), 2/4/13, 2/5/13, 2/13/13, 2/14/13, 2/20/13, 3/8/13 (vol. V); 2RP - 4/27/12; 3RP - 5/11/12; 4RP - 5/18/12, 9/21/12; 5RP - 6/8/12; 6RP - 9/11/12; 7RP - 10/5/12; 8RP - 1/24/13 (voir dire).

The attorneys exercised their peremptory challenges by passing that paper back and forth. 8RP 151-54. At one point, the judge asked a prospective juror to take off his hearing device "until they're done" because it might be capable of picking up what was said. 8RP 153-54. After the peremptory challenge process was finished, the judge invited the prospective juror to put the hearing device back on "so you can hear me now . . . no secret communications around here at this point." 8RP 154.

When the process was finished, the court announced on the record who would serve as jurors for the trial and excused the rest. 8RP 155-56. At no time did the court announce in open court which party had removed which potential jurors. A document containing this information was filed. CP 276. But the public was never told in open court that such a document had been filed.

> b. <u>The Public Trial Right Attaches To The Peremptory</u> <u>Challenge Process Because It Is An Integral Part Of</u> <u>Jury Selection</u>.

The federal and state constitutions guarantee the right to a public trial to every defendant. U.S. Const. amend VI; Wash. Const. art I, § 22. Additionally, article I, section 10 expressly guarantees to the public and press the right to open court proceedings. <u>State v. Easterling</u>, 157 Wn.2d 167, 174, 137 P.3d 825 (2006). Whether a trial court has violated the

defendant's right to a public trial is a question of law reviewed de novo. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 173-74.

The right to a public trial is the right to have a trial open to the public. In re Pers. Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 804-05, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). This is a core safeguard in our system of justice. State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 5, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012). The open and public judicial process helps assure fair trials, deters misconduct by participants, and tempers biases and undue partiality. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 5-6.

Furthermore, "[t]he requirement of a public trial is for the benefit of the accused; that the public may see he is fairly dealt with and not unjustly condemned, and that the presence of interested spectators may keep his triers keenly alive to a sense of their responsibility and to the importance of their functions." <u>State v. Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d 254, 259, 906 P.2d 325 (1995) (quoting <u>In re Oliver</u>, 333 U.S. 257, 270 n. 25, 68 S. Ct. 499, 92 L. Ed. 682 (1948)).

The trial court violated Carpenter's right to a public trial in holding peremptory challenges in private. The right to a public trial encompasses jury selection. <u>Presley v. Georgia</u>, 558 U.S. 209, 723-24, 130 S. Ct. 721, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010); <u>Wise</u>, 288 P.3d at 1118 (citing <u>State v.</u> <u>Brightman</u>, 155 Wn.2d 506, 515, 122 P.3d 150 (2005)). "The peremptory challenge process, precisely because it is an integral part of the voir

- 4 -

dire/jury impanelment process, is a part of the 'trial' to which a criminal defendant's constitutional right to a public trial extends." <u>People v. Harris</u>, 10 Cal. App.4th 672, 684, 12 Cal. Rptr. 2d 758 (Cal. Ct. App. 1992) (peremptory challenges conducted in chambers violate public trial right, even where such proceedings are reported), <u>review denied</u>, (Feb 02, 1993). This Court recognizes the right to a public trial attaches to the portion of jury selection involving peremptory challenges. <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. 328, 342-43, 346, 298 P.3d 148 (2013); <u>State v. Jones</u>, 175 Wn. App. 87, 97-101, 303 P.3d 1084 (2013).

In <u>Wilson</u>, this Court held the public trial right was not implicated when the bailiff excused the two jurors solely for illness-related reasons before voir dire began. <u>Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 347. In reaching that holding, the court distinguished the administrative removal of jurors before the voir dire process began to later portions of the jury selection process that implicated the public trial right, including the peremptory challenge process. <u>Id.</u> at 342-43.

This Court recognized "both the Legislature and our Supreme Court have acknowledged that a trial court has discretion to excuse jurors outside the public courtroom for statutorily-defined reasons, *provided such juror excusals do not amount to* for-cause excusals or *peremptory challenges traditionally exercised during voir dire in the courtroom.*" Id. at 344 (emphasis added). A trial court is allowed "to delegate hardship and other administrative juror excusals to clerks and other court agents, *provided that the excusals are not the equivalent of peremptory or for cause juror challenges.*" <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). Wilson's public trial argument failed because he could not show "the public trial right attaches to any component of jury selection that does not involve 'voir dire' or a similar jury selection proceeding involving the exercise of 'peremptory' challenges and 'for cause' juror excusals." <u>Id.</u> at 342.

In <u>Jones</u>, this Court held the trial court violated the right to public trial when, during a court recess off the record, the trial court clerk drew four juror names to determine which jurors would serve as alternates. Jones, 175 Wn. App. at 91. It recognized "both the historic and current practices in Washington reveal that the procedure for selecting alternate jurors, like the selection of regular jurors, generally occurs as part of voir dire in open court." <u>Id.</u> at 101. This Court likened the selection of alternate jurors to the phases of jury selection involving for cause *and peremptory challenges*. <u>Id.</u> at 98 ("Washington's first enactment regarding alternate jurors not only specified a particular procedure for the alternate juror selection, but it specifically instructed that alternate jurors be called in the same manner as deliberating jurors and subject to for-cause and peremptory challenges in open court.").

Both Jones and Wilson applied the experience and logic test set forth in <u>State v. Sublett</u>, 176 Wn.2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). Jones, 175 Wn. App. at 96-102; <u>Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 335-47. In Jones, there was a public trial violation because alternate juror selection was akin to the jury selection process involving regular jurors, including the peremptory challenge process. In <u>Wilson</u>, there was no public trial violation because the administrative removal of jurors for hardship was not akin to other portions of the jury selection process, including the peremptory challenge process. Both cases support Carpenter's argument that the public trial right attaches to the peremptory challenge process because it is an integral part of the jury selection process.

The "experience" component of the <u>Sublett</u> test is satisfied here. Historical evidence reveals "since the development of trial by jury, the process of selection of jurors has presumptively been a public process with exceptions only for good cause shown." <u>Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior</u> <u>Court of California, Riverside County</u>, 464 U.S. 501, 505, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984). The criminal rules of procedure show our courts have historically treated the peremptory challenge process as part of voir dire on par with for cause challenges. <u>Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 342. CrR 6.4(b) contemplates juror voir dire as involving peremptory and for cause juror challenges. <u>Id.</u> CrR 6.4(b) describes "voir dire" as a process where the trial court and counsel ask prospective jurors questions to assess their ability to serve on the defendant's particular case and to enable counsel to exercise intelligent "for cause" and "peremptory" juror challenges. <u>Id.</u> at 343.

This stands in sharp contrast with CrR 6.3, which contemplates administrative excusal of some jurors appearing for service before voir dire begins in the public courtroom. <u>Id.</u> at 342-43. In further contrast, a trial court has discretion to excuse jurors outside the public courtroom under RCW 2.36.100(1), but only so long as "such juror excusals do not amount to for-cause excusals or *peremptory challenges* traditionally exercised during voir dire in the courtroom." <u>Id.</u> at 344 (emphasis added).

The "logic" component of the <u>Sublett</u> test is satisfied as well. "Our system of voir dire and juror challenges, including causal challenges and peremptory challenges, is intended to secure impartial jurors who will perform their duties fully and fairly." <u>State v. Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d 34, 74, 309 P.3d 326 (2013) (Gonzalez, J., concurring). "The peremptory challenge is an important 'state-created means to the constitutional end of an impartial jury and a fair trial." <u>Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 62 (Madsen, C.J., concurring) (quoting <u>Georgia v. McCollum</u>, 505 U.S. 42, 59, 112 S. Ct. 2348, 120 L. Ed. 2d 33 (1992)).

While peremptory challenges may be exercised based on subjective feelings and opinions, there are important constitutional limits on both parties' exercise of such challenges. <u>McCollum</u>, 505 U.S. at 48-50. A prosecutor is forbidden from using peremptory challenges based on race, ethnicity, or gender. <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 86, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986); <u>Rivera v. Illinois</u>, 556 U.S. 148, 153, 129 S. Ct. 1446, 173 L. Ed. 2d 320 (2009); <u>State v. Burch</u>, 65 Wn. App. 828, 836, 830 P.2d 357 (1992).

The peremptory challenge component of jury selection matters. It is not so inconsequential to the fairness of the trial that it is appropriate to shield it from public scrutiny. Discrimination in the selection of jurors places the integrity of the judicial process and fairness of a criminal proceeding in doubt. <u>Powers v. Ohio</u>, 499 U.S. 400, 411, 111 S. Ct. 1364, 113 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1991).

The public trial right encompasses circumstances in which the public's mere presence passively contributes to the fairness of the proceedings, such as deterring deviations from established procedures, reminding the officers of the court of the importance of their functions, and subjecting judges to the check of public scrutiny. <u>Brightman</u>, 155 Wn.2d at 514; <u>Leyerle</u>, 158 Wn. App. at 479. An open peremptory process of jury selection acts as a safeguard against discriminatory

removal of jurors. Public scrutiny discourages discriminatory removal from taking place in the first instance and, if such a peremptory challenge is exercised, increases the likelihood that the challenge will be denied by the trial judge.

The Supreme Court recently issued an opinion that was fractured on how to deal with the persistence of racial discrimination in the peremptory challenge process, but all nine justices united in the recognition that the problem exists. See Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d at 49 (Wiggins, J., lead opinion) (overwhelming evidence that peremptory challenges often facilitate racially discriminatory jury selection), at 60 (Madsen, C.J., concurring) ("Like my colleagues, I am concerned about racial discrimination during jury selection."); at 65 (Stephens, J., concurring) (writing separately "to sound a note of restraint amidst the enthusiasm to craft a new solution to the problem of the discriminatory use of peremptory challenges during jury selection."); at 69 (Gonzalez, J., concurring) ("This splintered court is unanimous about one thing: Racial bias in jury selection is still a problem."); at 118 (Chambers, J., dissenting) ("Batson, by design, does nothing to police jury selection against unconscious racism or wider discriminatory impacts. I am skeptical ---given that we have never reversed a verdict on a Batson challenge --- that [Batson] does much to police discriminatory purpose itself.").

Justice Wiggins bemoaned the fact that in 42 cases decided since <u>Batson</u>, Washington appellate courts never reversed a conviction based on a trial court's erroneous denial of a <u>Batson</u> challenge. <u>Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 45-46. If discrimination during the peremptory process is not prevented at the trial level, the error will rarely be remedied on appeal. That is what history has taught us.

In light of these justified concerns, it cannot be plausibly maintained that the peremptory challenge process, as it unfolds in real time at the trial level, gains nothing from being open to the public. The public nature of trials is a check on the judicial system, provides for accountability and transparency, and assures that whatever transpires in court will not be secret or unscrutinized. <u>Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 6. "Essentially, the public-trial guarantee embodies a view of human nature, true as a general rule, that judges [and] lawyers . . . will perform their respective functions more responsibly in an open court than in secret proceedings." <u>Id.</u> at 17 (quoting <u>Waller v. Georgia</u>, 467 U.S. 39, 46 n.4, 104 S. Ct. 2210, 81 L. Ed. 2d 31 (1984)). The peremptory challenge process squarely implicates those values.

Division Three of the Court of Appeals recently held no public trail violation occurred during the peremptory challenge phase because the record did not show peremptory challenges were actually exercised at sidebar instead of in open court. <u>State v. Love</u>, 176 Wn. App. 911, 309 P.3d 1209, 1212 (2013).² In extended dicta, Division Three opined that, even if the record showed peremptory challenges were exercised at sidebar, the peremptory challenge process did not need to be open to the public under the "experience and logic" test. <u>Love</u>, 309 P.3d at 1212-14. That discussion was dicta because it was unnecessary to resolve the issue. <u>See In re Marriage of Roth</u>, 72 Wn. App. 566, 570, 865 P.2d 43 (1994) ("Dicta is language not necessary to the decision in a particular case."). Dicta lack precedential value. <u>Campbell v. Reed</u>, 134 Wn. App. 349, 359, 139 P.3d 419 (2006). Moreover, dicta are often ill-considered and should not be transformed into a rule of law. <u>State v. Shove</u>, 113 Wn.2d 83, 88, 776 P.2d 132 (1989); <u>State ex rel. Hoppe v. Meyers</u>, 58 Wn.2d 320, 329, 363 P.2d 121 (1961).

Division Three's dicta in <u>Love</u> is ill-considered and should not be followed for the reasons already articulated in this brief. The experience prong of the "experience and logic" test is met because the relevant court rule envisions both for cause and peremptory challenges taking place in open court. <u>Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 342-44; <u>Jones</u>, 175 Wn. App. at 98, 101. Division Three ignored what <u>Jones</u> and <u>Wilson</u> have to say on the issue.

² A petition for review has been filed in <u>Love</u>.

Its reliance on <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 16 Wn. App. 1, 13, 553 P.2d 1357 (1976) as a basis to conclude peremptory challenges do not meet the "experience" prong of the "experience and logic" test is misplaced. <u>Love</u>, 309 P.3d at 1213. <u>Thomas</u> rejected the argument that "Kitsap County's use of secret – written – peremptory jury challenges" violated the defendant's right to a fair and public trial where the defendant had failed to cite to any supporting authority. <u>Thomas</u>, 16 Wn. App. at 13. <u>Thomas</u>, however, predates <u>Bone-Club</u> by nearly 20 years. Much has changed in public trial jurisprudence since then and Carpenter cites plenty of authority to back up his argument.

Moreover, <u>Thomas</u> noted in 1976 that secret peremptories were used "in several counties" according to a Bar Association directory. <u>Thomas</u>, 16 Wn. App. at 13 & n.2. There are 39 counties in Washington. The implication, then, is that only several of the 39 counties used secret peremptories as of 1976.³ That hardly shows an established historical practice of secret peremptory challenges in this state. Quite the contrary.

Turning to the "logic" prong, Division Three's bald assertion that the exercise of peremptory challenges "presents no questions of public oversight" is simply wrong. <u>Love</u>, 309 P.3d at 1214. The reasons why it

³ The source of the court's information is actually dated 1968. <u>Thomas</u>, 16 Wn. App. at 13 n.2.

is wrong, including the benefit of public oversight to deter discriminatory removal of jurors during the peremptory process, have already been set forth in this brief.

c. <u>The Private Peremptory Challenge Proceeding</u> <u>Constitutes A Closure For Public Trial Purposes</u>.

One type of "closure" is "when the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter and no one may leave." <u>State v. Lormor</u>, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 257 P.3d 624 (2011). Physical closure of the courtroom, however, is not the only situation that violates the public trial right. Another type of closure occurs where a proceeding takes place in a location inaccessible to the public, such as a judge's chambers or hallway. <u>Lormor</u>, 172 Wn.2d at 93 (chambers); <u>State v. Leyerle</u>, 158 Wn. App. 474, 477, 483, 484 n.9, 242 P.3d 921 (2010) (moving questioning of juror to hallway outside courtroom was a closure).

Here, the peremptory challenge portion of the jury selection process was conducted in private. The piece of paper passed between the attorneys was inaccessible to the public at the time the peremptory challenges were exercised. The procedure in this case violated the right to a public trial to the same extent as any in-chambers conference or other courtroom closure would have. Though the courtroom itself remained open to the public, the proceedings were not. Jurors were allowed to remain in the courtroom while challenges were exercised, which demonstrates the challenges were done in a way that those in the courtroom would not be able to overhear.

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