A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR. 

1. Has defendant failed to show that the courtroom was closed

during jury selection where the entire proceedings were held in an

open courtroom in full view of the public? 

2. Did the trial court properly deny defendant' s request to

discharge his attorney where the basis of the breakdown in

communication was entirely due to defendant' s refusal to

cooperate with his attorney?

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

C. ARGUMENT. 

1. AS JURY SELECTION OCCURRED IN AN

OPEN COURTROOM, DEFENDANT FAILS TO

SHOW ANY CLOSURE OF THE COURTROOM. 

a. RAP 2. 5( a)( 3) Should Be Applied to Right

to Public Trial Cases, As It Is To Other

Constitutional Rights. 

Ordinarily an appellate court will consider a constitutional claim

for the first time on appeal only if the alleged error is manifest and truly of

constitutional dimension. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332 -33, 

899 P. 2d 1251 ( 1995); State v. Davis, 41 Wn.2d 535, 250 P.2d 548

1952); RAP 2. 5( a)( 3). Such a restriction is necessary because the failure

to raise an objection in the trial court " deprives the trial court of [its] 

opportunity to prevent or cure the error" thereby undermining the primacy

of the trial court. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P. 3d 125

8 - Carpenter 44562 -0. doc



2007); State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687, 757 P.2d 492 ( 1988) ( the

constitutional error exception in RAP 2. 5( a)( 3) is not intended to afford

criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can

identify a constitutional issue not litigated below). A defendant

attempting to raise a claim for the first time on appeal must show both a

constitutional error and prejudice to his rights. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at

926 -27. A defendant can demonstrate actual prejudice on appeal by

making a " plausible showing ... that the asserted error had practical and

identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at

935. 

Prior to the adoption of RAP 2. 5 the Washington Supreme Court

held that a closed courtroom claim could be raised on appeal even if there

was no objection on this ground in the trial court. State v. Marsh, 126

Wash. 142, 145 -46, 217 P. 705 ( 1923). 

At common law, constitutional issues not raised in the trial

court were not considered on appeal, with just two

exceptions. If a defendant' s constitutional rights in a

criminal trial were violated, such issue could be raised for

the first time on appeal. Secondly, where a party raised a
constitutional challenge affecting the jurisdiction of the
trial court, an appellate court could also reach the issue. 

State v. WWJ Corp., 138 Wn.2d 595, 601, 980 P.2d 1257, 1260 ( 1999) 

citations omitted). These common law rules were replaced in 1976 by the

adoption of the Rules of Appellate procedure, and specifically RAP 2. 5( a). 
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WWJ Corp., 138 Wn.2d at 601. As noted in a recent opinion, see State v. 

Beskurt, 176 Wn.2d 441, 449 -50, 293 P. 3d 1159 ( 2013) ( Madsen, J., 

concurring), when the Supreme Court decided State v. Bone -Club in

1995, it cited to the rule in Marsh without taking into consideration of the

impact of RAP 2. 5( a)( 3). See State v. Bone -Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 257, 

906 P. 2d 325 ( 1995). This failure to consider the impact of RAP 2. 5( a)( 3) 

has persisted in other decisions. See, e.g., State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d

506, 514 - 15, 122 P.3d 150 ( 2005). 

As three justices of the Supreme Court recently concluded, the

appellate courts should refuse to apply a rule that conflicts with the Rules

of Appellate Procedure and subverts the intent of RAP 2. 5( a). State v. 

Beskurt, 176 Wn.2d 441, 449 -51, 293 P. 3d 1159 ( 2013) ( Madsen, J., 

concurring). The Court in Bone -Club did not consider the change

effected by RAP 2. 5( a); its holding that a public trial error need not be

raised in the trial court to be considered on appeal should be corrected. 

Respect for stare decisis requires a clear showing that an

established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned. State v. 

Devin, 158 Wn.2d 157, 168, 142 P. 3d 599 ( 2006). In this instance, the

rule is incorrect because it contradicts the spirit and letter of the Rules of

Appellate Procedure adopted by this Court. It is harmful in at least three

respects: 1) the trial court is denied the opportunity to correct any error
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when no objection is required to preserve the issue for review; 2) it allows

a defendant to participate in procedures and practices in the trial court that

are to his benefit, yet still claim that these practices are the basis for error

in the appellate court; and 3) as the Marsh rule does not require a

defendant to show a manifest error or any actual prejudice before

obtaining new trial, public respect for the court is diminished and judicial

resources are wasted when retrial is given as a remedy when it is evident

from the record that there is no prejudice to the defendant. 

These harms can be seen in the case now before the court. The

trial court had the parties indicate their peremptory challenges in writing

on a paper that was passed back and forth; neither party voiced an

objection to this procedure. CP 273 -75, 276; RP ( 1/ 24/ 13) 151. 

Defendant exercised three peremptory challenges thereby eliminating

venire persons he did not want on his jury. CP 276. Had defendant

objected to this procedure and argued it constituted a violation of his right

to an open courtroom, the trial court might have opted for different

procedure just to eliminate a potential claim. 

Defendant cannot articulate any practical and identifiable negative

consequences to his trial or show that he was prejudiced by the use of the

written process to indicate peremptory challenges. His failure to object to

what he now claims was a courtroom closure and a denial of his right to a

Carpenter 44562 -0. doc



public trial, coupled with his inability to establish resulting actual

prejudice, should preclude appellate review. Despite the fact that he

cannot show any actual prejudice from the procedures used, defendant

nevertheless, argues that he is entitled to a new trial. This is an abuse of

the judicial process that should not be condoned. 

This court should find that defendant' s failure to object brings this

issue under RAP 2. 5( a)( 3) in that he has failed to show an issue of truly

constitutional magnitude that has caused him actual prejudice. As such, 

this court should refuse to review the claim. 

b. The Courtroom Was Open Throughout Voir

Dire Proceedings. 

A criminal defendant' s right to a public trial is found in article I, 

section 22 of the Washington Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment to

the United States Constitution; both provide a criminal defendant the right

to a " public trial by an impartial jury." The state constitution also

provides that "[ j] ustice in all cases shall be administered openly," which

grants the public an interest in open, accessible proceedings, similar to

rights granted in the First Amendment of the federal constitution. Wash. 

Const. article I, section 10; State v. Lormor, 172 Wn.2d 85, 91, 257 P. 3d

624 ( 2011); Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P. 2d

716 ( 1982); Press — Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 464 U.S. 501, 104 S. 
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Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 ( 1984). The public trial right " serves to ensure a

fair trial, to remind the prosecutor and judge of their responsibility to the

accused and the importance of their functions, to encourage witnesses to

come forward, and to discourage perjury." State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d

58, 72, 292 P. 3d 715 ( 2012). " There is a strong presumption that courts

are to be open at all trial stages." Lormor, 172 Wn.2d at 90. The right to

a public trial includes voir dire. Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. 

Ct. 721, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 ( 2010). 

Whether the right to a public trial has been violated is a question of

law reviewed de novo. State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 147, 217 P. 3d

321 ( 2009). The right to a public trial is violated when: 1) the public is

fully excluded from proceedings within a courtroom, State v. Bone —Club, 

128 Wn.2d 254, 257, 906 P. 2d 325 ( 1995) ( no spectators allowed in

courtroom during a suppression hearing), and State v. Easterling, 157

Wn.2d 167, 172, 137 P.3d 825 ( 2006) ( all spectators, including

codefendant and his counsel, excluded from the courtroom while

codefendant plea- bargained); 2) the entire voir dire is closed to all

spectators, State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 511, 122 P. 3d 150 ( 2005); 

3) and is implicated when individual jurors are privately questioned in

chambers, see State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 146, 217 P. 3d 321 ( 2009) 

and State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 224, 217 P. 3d 310 ( 2009) ( jury
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selection is conducted in chambers rather than in an open courtroom

without consideration of the Bone —Club factors). In contrast, conducting

individual voir dire in an open courtroom without the rest of the venire

present does not constitute a closure. State v. Erickson, 146 Wn. App. 

200, 189 P. 3d 245 ( 2008). 

When faced with a claim that a trial court has improperly closed a

courtroom, the Washington Supreme Court has held that the reviewing

court determines the nature of the closure by the presumptive effect of the

plain language of the court' s ruling, not by the ruling' s actual effect. In re

Personal Restraint ofOrange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 807 -8, 100 P. 3d 291

2004). 

In the case now before the Court, defendant argues that the

procedure used by the court for exercising peremptory challenges

constituted a courtroom closure. The record shows the following

occurred: At the close of questioning, the court informed the venire that

the attorneys would be exercising challenges, a process that did not require

their participation. RP ( 1/ 24/ 13) 151. The parties exercised their

peremptory challenges by passing a piece of paper between them. CP 276. 

While this was occurring, the court stated: 

THE COURT: All right. This next part of this, the attorneys

are going to be passing a sheet of paper back and forth as
they pick their jury. This does not require audience
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participation; so at this point, you' re free to talk among
yourselves quietly. Get out your electronic, you know, 
books, your Nooks, Kindles, whatever, your magazines, 

whatever you choose to entertain yourselves. 

RP ( 1/ 24/ 13) 151. The court then spent a little time telling the jurors

about the history of courtroom seating. RP ( 1/ 24/ 13) 151 -53. The court

also asked one of the jurors to remove his court- provided hearing device

while the parties were discussing their peremptory challenges. RP

1/ 24/ 13) 153 -54. When the parties completed their peremptory

challenges, they handed the paper to the court. RP ( 1/ 24/ 13) 154. The

court then called out the jurors who would be serving on the case. RP

1/ 24/ 13) 155 -56. No objections were raised regarding either party' s use

of peremptory challenges. RP ( 1/ 24/ 13) 155 -57. The written sheet

indicating the peremptory challenges used by each side was filed, thereby

making it a public document. CP 276. 

Defendant has failed to identify any ruling of the court that closed

the courtroom to any person. All jury selection was conducted in the

courtroom as opposed to the judge' s chambers or the jury room. 

Defendant can point to no Washington case that has found a courtroom

closure under these circumstances. Rather, defendant argues that

conducting the peremptory challenge process in writing effectively

closed" the courtroom. 
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The right to a public trial serves to ensure a fair trial, to remind the

prosecutor and judge of their responsibility to the accused and the

importance of their functions, to encourage witnesses to come forward, 

and to discourage perjury. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d at 514 (citing Peterson

v. Williams, 85 F. 3d 39, 43 ( 2d Cir. 1996)). But not every interaction

between the court, counsel, and defendants will implicate the right to a

public trial. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 71. To decide whether a particular

process must be open to the press and the general public, the court in

Sublett adopted the " experience and logic" test formulated by the United

States Supreme Court in PressEnterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 478

U.S. 1, 8, 106 S. Ct. 2735, 92 L. Ed. 2d 1 ( 1986). Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at

73, 141. 

The first part of the test, the experience prong, asks
whether the place and process have historically been open

to the press and general public." The logic prong asks
whether public access plays a significant positive role in

the functioning of the particular process in question." If the

answer to both is yes, the public trial right attaches and the

Waller or Bone —Club factors must be considered before the

proceeding may be closed to the public. We agree with this
approach and adopt it in these circumstances. 

Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73. Applying that test, the court held that no

violation of Sublett' s right to a public trial occurred when the court

considered a jury question in chambers. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 74- 77. 

None of the values served by the public trial right is violated under the
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facts of this case.... The appearance of fairness is satisfied by having the

question, answer, and any objections placed on the record." Sublett, 176

Wn.2d at 77. 

Division III of the Court of Appeals recently addressed whether

challenges for cause done in a sidebar constituted a courtroom closure

under the experience and logic test in State v. Love, 176 Wn. App. 911, 

309 P. 3d 1209 ( 2013). As to the experience prong the court concluded: 

The history review confirms that in over 140 years of cause
and peremptory challenges in this state, there is little
evidence of the public exercise of such challenges, and

some evidence that they are conducted privately. Our
experience does not require that the exercise of these

challenges be conducted in public. 

Love, 176 Wn. App. at 919. Under the logic prong, the court found that

none of the purposes of the public trial right were furthered by a party' s

actions is making a challenge for cause or a peremptory challenge as a

challenge for cause creates an issue of law for the judge to decide and a

peremptory challenge " presents no questions of public oversight." Love, 

176 Wn. App. at 919. The court concluded that use of a side bar to

conduct challenges for cause did not constitute a courtroom closure. Love, 

176 Wn. App. at 920. 

In addition to the historical review conducted in Love, there is

some additional authority that the public announcement of a peremptory
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challenge in open court by the party exercising the challenge is not a

widespread practice. When the United States Supreme Court decided that

it was just as improper for a criminal defendant to excuse a potential juror

for an improper reason as it was a prosecutor, the court commented that

it is common practice not to reveal the identity of the challenging party to

the jurors and potential jurors[.]" Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 53

n.8, 112 S. Ct. 2348 ( 1992), citing Underwood, Ending Race

Discrimination in Jury Selection: Whose Right Is It, Anyway ?, 92

Colum.L.Rev. 725, 751, n. 117 ( 1992). 

In the case now before the court, defendant does not point to any

ruling of the court that excluded spectators or any other person from the

courtroom during the voir dire process. The record indicates that all of

voir dire and the exercise of peremptory challenges were carried out in an

open courtroom. 
Peremptory6

challenges were made by the attorneys in

open court, albeit by a written process. CP 276; RP ( 1/ 24/ 13) 151. 

Presumably, defendant could see the peremptory sheet and discuss the

process with his attorney while it was going on. The written record of the

process was reviewed by the court and filed, making it available for public

inspection. CP 276. None of the peremptory challenges were contested

and there was no need for the court to make any decisions on the
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peremptory challenges. RP( 1 / 24/ 13) 151 -56. The record offers no basis

to assume that anything occurred during this process other than the written

communication, among counsel and the court, of the names of the

prospective jurors each counsel had decided to excuse by the right of

peremptory challenge. Anyone can look at the peremptory challenge sheet

and see exactly which party exercised which peremptory against which

prospective juror and in what order. CP 276. 

It should be noted that under McCollum, both the prosecution and

defense are forbidden from removing a juror with a peremptory challenge

for an improper purpose. Thus, if there was a concern that a juror was

being removed for an improper reason, it is immaterial which party

exercised a peremptory against that juror. Any potential juror who felt

that he or she was being improperly removed from the jury could raise his

or her concern with the trial court. Under the written process used here, 

the court would know who had exercised its peremptory against that

person and could decide whether it was necessary for that party to explain

its reasons for doing so. The procedure used below protects the values of

the public trial right. 

Defendant has failed to identify any closure of the courtroom

during voir dire and fails to show how the procedures used in an open

6 There were no challenges for cause. RP( 1 / 24/ 13) 150.

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